COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE DADE COUNTY POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC.,

(KEY WEST CHAPTER)

AND

THE CITY OF KEY WEST, FLORIDA

FROM OCTOBER 1, <u>2023</u> 2020 through SEPTEMBER 30, <u>2026</u> 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>ART</u>	PAGE			
	STA	STATEMENT OF INTENT			
	PAR	PARTICIPANTS			
1	RECOGNITION		7		
2	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS, RULES, REGULATIONS, CONTROLS		8		
3	WORK RULES, REGULATIONS, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES		10		
4	EMPLOYEE RIGHTS				
	A.	PREVAILING RIGHTS	12		
	В.	LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' BILL OF RIGHTS	12		
	C.	CIVIL SERVICE PROTECTION	12		
	D.	NON-DISCRIMINATION	13		
5	VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT				
	A.	SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND POLICIES	14		
	В.	UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT	14		
	C.	OPERATIONAL EQUIPMENT	16		
6	TRAINING AND EDUCATION		17		
7	DEPARTMENTAL OPERATIONS - STAFFING		18		
8	PROBATIONARY PERIODS		19		
9	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME				
10	OFF-DUTY DETAILS AND/OR SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT		24		

11	PRO	25	
12	WAGES		
13	ASSIGNMENT PAY		
14	PAY ALLOWANCES		
15	OUT OF CLASS PAY		
16	INSURANCE COVERAGE		
17	LONGEVITY STEP PAY		
18	PER	34	
	Α.	ANNIVERSARY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	34
	В.	PERFORMANCE REPORT RESTRICTIONS	36
	C.	ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION APPEAL	36
19	INSU	39	
	Α.	HEALTH AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE	39
	В.	LIFE, ACCIDENTAL DEATH/DISMEMBERMENT	39
	C.	DEATH IN LINE OF DUTY	39
20	ON-THE-JOB INJURY		40
21	PENSION RETIREMENT		42
22	HOLIDAYS		43
23	ANNUAL OR VACATION LEAVE 44		
24	SICK LEAVE 4		
25	FUNERAL LEAVE 49		

26	PERSONNEL REDUCTION	50
27	INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS	52
28	DISCIPLINARY ACTION	54
29	PERSONNEL RECORDS	55
30	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	56
31	ABRBITRATION PROCEDURE	60
32	ASSOCIATION BUSINESS	64
33	SERVICES TO THE ASSOCIATION	65
34	LEGAL PROTECTION	66
35	DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING	67
36	DUES DEDUCTION	68
37	APPENDICES AND AMENDMENTS	69
38	SEVERABILITY	70
39	CONTRACT CONSTITUTES ENTIRE AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES	71
40	ZIPPER CLAUSE	72
41	DURATION, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION	73

APPENDICES

- A. STEP PAY PLAN
- B. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE POLICY
- C. KWPD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM
- D. GRIEVANCE FORM

STATEMENT OF INTENT

The purpose of this Agreement is to promote harmonious and cooperative relationships between the City of Key West, as Employer, and the members of the Bargaining Unit, as Employees, both collectively and individually and to protect the public by assuring, at all times, the orderly and uninterrupted operations and functions of government.

PARTICIPANTS

This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Key West, Florida, hereinafter referred to as "Employer" or "City" and the Dade County Police Benevolent Association, Key West Chapter, hereinafter referred to as "Association."

RECOGNITION

- The City recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative, as defined in Chapter 447, Florida Statutes, for Employees employed in the unit defined by the Public Employees Relations Commission in order number 90E-149 issued on May 25, 1990.
 - Included: All sworn and certified Police Officers, Police Sergeants, Police Lieutenants, Internal Affairs Inspector (including those assigned as Detective)
 - Excluded: Police Chief, Police Major, Police Captains, non-sworn Police Department personnel, and all other City employees.
- Ratification of this Agreement does not constitute a waiver by either party to petition the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission for modification of the Bargaining Unit.

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS, RULES, REGULATIONS, CONTROLS

1 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties agree that the Employer shall have the

right to operate and manage its affairs in all respects and decide and/or amend City rules, regulations

and policies, which shall include, but not be limited to the right to:

- a) decide the scope of services to be performed and the methods of services;
- b) hire and/or otherwise determine the criteria and standards of selection for employment;
- c) fire, demote, suspend or otherwise discipline for just cause;
- d) promote and/or otherwise establish the criteria and/or procedure for promotions within and outside the bargaining unit subject only to contrary provisions contained in this Agreement covering the issue or promotion;
- e) transfer Employees from location to location, and from time to time;
- f) lay off and/or relieve Employees from duty due to lack of work or any other justifiable economic reason;
- g) rehire or recall Employees;
- h) determine the starting and quitting times and the number of hours and shifts to be worked, including the need for overtime work, subject only to contrary provisions in this Agreement;
- i) determine the allocation of jobs and content of job descriptions and classifications;
- j) formulate and/or amend job descriptions and/or job classifications;
- k) merge, consolidate, expand, curtail or discontinue operations, temporarily or permanently, in whole or in part, whenever in the sole discretion of the City's good business judgment such curtailment or discontinuance is advisable;
- I) expand, reduce, alter, combine, assign or cease any job;
- m) determine whether and to what extent the work in its operation shall be performed by Employees covered by this Agreement;
- n) control the use of equipment and property by the City;
- o) determine the number, location, and operation of headquarters, annexes, substations and/or divisions thereof;
- p) direct Employees, including the right to schedule and assign work and overtime to Employees and determine the size and composition of the work force;
- q) determine the services to be provided to the public, and the maintenance procedures, materials, facilities and equipment to be used, and to introduce new or improved services, maintenance, procedures, materials, facilities and equipment as is necessary in its sole discretion;
- r) take whatever action may be necessary to carry out the mission and responsibility of the City, specifically the Police Department, in unusual and/or emergency situations;
- s) formulate, alter, amend, revise and implement policy, programs, procedures, work rules and regulations (including but not limited to safety rules and regulations);
- t) require Employees to observe and obey the City's and Police Department's policies, procedures, ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations; and
- u) conduct periodic performance evaluations, subject only to the provisions of this contract.

- 2 In event of disaster or other emergency situation, normal duties/schedules/procedures may be suspended as necessary, with the formal declaration of disaster or other emergency by the City, State or Federal government. The Police Chief shall continue as head of police operations and the chain of command shall be maintained.
- 3 The herein listed rights of the Employer are not all-inclusive, but rather are indicative of the types of matters and/or rights which belong to and are inherent to the Employer's general capacity as management. Any rights, powers and authority the Employer had prior to entering into this Agreement are retained by the City, unless and except as expressly and specifically modified, abridged, delegated or granted by this Agreement.
- 4 If the Employer fails to exercise any one or more of the above functions from time to time, this will not be deemed a waiver of the Employer's right to exercise any or all such functions.
- 5 The exercise of management rights shall not preclude Employees or their representatives from raising grievances, only when the exercise of those management decisions on the above matters have the effect of violating the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

WORK RULES, REGULATIONS, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

A. CONFLICT

1. It is agreed and understood by the Parties to this Agreement that the Employer may formulate, alter, abolish, establish, revise, amend and implement rules and regulations, policies, procedures, programs, job classifications and job descriptions.

2. In the event of a conflict between the Employer's rules, regulations, policies and procedures and this Agreement, the express terms of this Agreement shall control.

B. RULE, REGULATION OR POLICY CHANGE AND NOTIFICATION

- 1. Notification of any new/revised/amended/abolished rule, regulation, policy, procedure, program, job classification and/or job description shall be provided to the Association by its posting or distribution at least thirty (30) days, if practicable, but not less then fifteen (15) days in advance of implementation. The intent of the Parties is to abide by the notice provisions set forth herein, however, if a situation arises that requires departmental action on an emergency basis or if there exists a current rule, regulation, policy or procedure that is not in the best interest of the Police Department as determined by the Police Chief or designee, the Police Chief or designee may address the emergency situation by abolishing the rule, regulation, policy, procedure or program or by implementing a new, revised, amended rule, regulation, policy, procedure or program without complying with the notice provisions set forth herein. The City must thereafter immediately notify Bargaining Unit Members by posting or distributing the change.
- 2. The Association may request negotiations to bargain any change which impacts permissive subjects of bargaining of this Agreement or submit comments on the matter in writing to the Chief or his designee, or as otherwise provided by law, within ten (10) days of such notice. If impact bargaining is requested, the proposed change shall not take effect for a period of thirty (30) days or completion of

impact bargaining, whichever occurs first. When impact bargaining is requested, the City and the Association shall cooperate to expedite completion of the bargaining process.

3. Departmental rules, regulations, policies and procedures, and amendments/revisions thereto, approved by the Police Chief or his designee, or as otherwise provided, shall automatically become and be considered a formal part of the Agreement, but any grievance involving any departmental rule, regulation, policy, procedure and/or amendment/revision thereto is only grievable up to the City Manager or designee and is barred from arbitration.

C. EXAMINATION REQUIREMENT

- The Employer, with explanation and justification, may require an Employee to submit to medical and/or psychological examination, at Employer's expense, if there is reason to believe a problem exists that may interfere with performance of the Employee's duties.
- 2. Such examination shall be scheduled during the Employee's regular working hours, if possible.
- 3. If the examination is scheduled during the Employee's off-duty time, he/she shall be compensated a minimum of two (2) hours or so long as required, if longer, at his/her overtime rate.
- 4. The failure of any Employee to present himself/herself for this examination as directed may subject him/her to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
- 5. Paragraph one (1) shall not apply to instances where an Employee is required to obtain a doctor's statement regarding absence from work or limitation of activities.

11

EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

A. PREVAILING RIGHTS

Any prevailing right that is not identified during the term of this Agreement shall not continue to exist as a prevailing right after September 30, 2001.

B. LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' BILL OF RIGHTS

- The City recognizes its rights and obligations under the Police Officer, Bill of Rights, Section 112.531 et. seq., Florida Statutes, as amended.
- C. CIVIL SERVICE PROTECTION
 - 1 The Parties agree that grievances shall be processed solely in accordance with ARTICLES 30 and 31 Grievance and Arbitration Procedure. Where discipline is in the form of a termination, the Employee has the option of appealing the discipline through arbitration or a Disciplinary Appeal Panel under the provisions of ARTICLE 30 and 31.
 - An Employee subject to this Agreement shall not be entitled to grieve or appeal to the Civil Service Board for resolution of employment issues covered by this Agreement.
 Any matter arising solely under the Civil Service Board Rules and Regulations shall be appealed pursuant to the Civil Service Rules and Regulations.
 - 3. When a grievant has the option of utilizing either the Association or civil service procedure, and has chosen the procedure to be followed, he may not later elect to reverse that decision and switch from the chosen procedure to the other.
 - In the event of conflicts between this Agreement and the City of Key West Personnel Policies and Procedure Manual, Civil Service Board Rules and Regulations or the Police Manual Rules and Regulations, this Agreement shall prevail.

D. NON-DISCRIMINATION

1. The City and the Association agree that the provisions of this Agreement shall be equally applicable to all Employees covered herein without regard to membership or non-membership in a labor organization, as provided by law.

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

A. SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND POLICIES

- 1. The Employer agrees to comply with all mandatory safety standards established by law.
- 2. Any Employee may submit to the Police Chief or designee any written suggestions and/or

opinions concerning the safety and health conditions affecting his/her employment.

B. UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT

- 1. The Employer shall furnish the following to all certified officers, upon employment:
- a. Four (4) uniform shirts;
- b. Three (3) pairs of uniform trousers;
 - c. One (1) pair of work shoes/boots (officer preference) subject to City guidelines, and upon request, one (1) pair of dress shoes;
- d. One (1) each: breast badge, hat, whistle, collar brass, name tag;
- e. One (1) gun belt, including: appropriate holster for any approved duty weapon;
- f. Double spare ammo carrier;
- g. One (1) pair of handcuffs with case;
- h. One (1) expandable baton and holder;
- i. Four (4) snap or Velcro belt carriers;
- j. One (1) portable radio and case;
- k. One (1) set of rain gear;
- I. One (1) department approved winter jacket;
 - m. One (1) durable flashlight with holder and traffic cone (batteries and bulbs as needed). The City has the option of providing one flashlight per car or per officer.
 - n. One (1) Department-issued hand gun and ammunition for duty and range (for both range practice and qualification);
 - o. Two hundred (200) rounds maximum per year to be provided for practice but can only be used under prescribed conditions;
 - p. One Department-issued properly fitted (gender specific) ballistic vest, minimum threat level 3A, or upon request with a waiver an Officer may request a level 2A vest;
 - q. Holsters and other such equipment may be changed if the City decides to change weapons.
- 2. The above-listed and any other City-issued equipment shall be repaired or replaced by

the Department if the Police Chief or designee, in his sole discretion, determines said

equipment is needed. This shall include any such equipment having been provided to

the Employee prior to this Agreement.

- 3. The Parties agree that should an Employee be injured or killed in the line of duty, whether that Employee is wearing the Department-issued vest or not, his/her sole and exclusive remedy against the Employer is provided by 440 et. seq., Florida Statutes.
- 4. City-issued equipment which is damaged or destroyed as a result of Employee misconduct shall be replaced at the Employee's expense, in addition to any disciplinary action that may be instituted. The Police Chief or his designee shall determine whether equipment was damaged or destroyed as a result of Employee misconduct.
- 5. An individual officer may provide his/her own specific items of equipment instead of or in addition to City-issued equipment, provided such items meet or exceed City standards and are approved by the Police Chief or designee prior to its use. The decision of replacement or reimbursement of such individually provided equipment in event of damage or destruction shall be at the Chief or designee's discretion and determined on the same basis as City-issued equipment. The replacement of individually provided equipment shall be with City-issued equipment (except firearms which shall be replaced with the type of weapon destroyed) or reimbursement not to exceed City-issued equipment costs.
- 6. If a police officer's personal property is damaged or destroyed in the line of duty through no fault of the officer, as determined by the Police Chief or designee, the City shall repair or replace the personal property in an amount up to two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00). The Police Chief or designee shall have the final authority to determine the reimbursement, entitlement and value of any items other than watches or prescription glasses and contact lenses. The City will not repair or replace such items unless the officer reports that these items have been damaged before the end of that particular shift.

7. The City shall provide appropriate pins/patches (i.e. for F.T.O., motors) as earned and

approved by the Police Chief or designee.

C. OPERATIONAL EQUIPMENT

1. The Employer shall furnish the following operational equipment (as applicable):

Marked Patrol Units (4 wheel and 2 wheel) with two-way radio, emergency lights, siren, p.a. system, spotlights and alley lights, shotgun, air conditioning and heating, first-aid kit (including alcohol, surgical gloves and resuscitator mask), emergency car door opening devices, and one half (1/2) hour emergency road flares

Portable copies (to include electronic copies): State statutes (one for each officer)

Portable copies (to include electronic copies): police-enforced City ordinances (one for each officer) (Current)

A paper/hard copy of State Statutes and/or City Ordinances will be provided, in addition to the electronic copy, to any officer who specifically requests a paper/hard copy.

Appropriate paperwork forms

Field test kits (controlled substance)

TRAINING AND EDUCATION

The Department shall provide each officer with amended or new laws, court decisions and departmental or City rules and regulations as it deems appropriate.

The City shall provide an in-house training program, meeting F.D.L.E. standards that will provide, at a minimum, the 40-hours required for re-certification as a law enforcement officer. The City and Association agree to work together to avoid the overtime impact of this program. Whenever possible, the training will be provided on the officer's regular duty shift. When not possible, the Association and City will arrange appropriate shift changes. If the City mandates attendance at a particular course, the City shall pay all related costs, including overtime if appropriate. All budget constraints shall be considered prior to mandating attendance.

The City agrees to use every reasonable effort to help the Department secure access to the United States Navy firing range or other FDLE approved firearm range.

DEPARTMENTAL OPERATIONS - STAFFING

- Except as provided in this Agreement, the Employer reserves all rights to determine levels of staffing and deployment of police personnel, but recognizes that it is in the best interests of the citizens of Key West and in the best-interests of the men and women of the Police Department to maintain adequate police capability at all times to protect our citizens and insure the proper safety of our officers.
- 2. The Employer agrees to make a good faith effort to maintain a level of uniformed vehicle patrol watch staffing including, at least six (6) certified patrol officers with two supervisors, the second supervisor being optional, depending upon management needs and actual numbers of uniformed police officers working.
- 3. Special duty officers shall customarily be provided from off-duty personnel on an overtime or contractual basis for security, construction, traffic control, parades, etc. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the watch commander from assigning on duty officers to these types of duties as may be determined necessary by the Police Department command. The Employer will make a good faith effort to provide at least twenty-four hours advance notice for the need for special duty officers so adequate staffing can be provided.
- 4. The City agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will not permanently contract out work currently being performed by Bargaining Unit Members; however, this will not prevent the City from having persons outside the City perform certain police-related functions on a temporary basis in unusual and/or emergency situations. The City agrees that no Bargaining Unit Employee shall be laid-off or replaced by a grant Employee or contract Employee. It is also agreed that the City will not contract out bargaining unit work solely in order to avoid the payment of overtime to Bargaining Unit Members.

PROBATIONARY PERIODS

- 1. The standard probationary period for all new officers shall be three hundred sixty-five (365) calendar days from the date such officer completes the police minimum standards training and/or becomes a paid, full-time, certified officer, serving in a police officer_capacity and performing police officer duties for the City. Before the expiration of this time period, the Police Chief or designee may:
 - a. Recommend retention of the officer with regular employee status, or if no recommendation for retention is made, the officer shall have regular employee status
 - b. Recommend separation of the officer, whereupon such separation shall be immediate; or
 - c. Recommend an extension of the probationary period not to exceed an additional ninety (90) days' service in the police officer capacity.
- During an officer's probationary period, such officer serves at the will and pleasure of the Employer. The probationary officer shall not have the right to grieve any matter and may be terminated with or without cause.
- 3. If an Employee is promoted to a higher position, such Employee shall serve a probationary period of 270 consecutive days from the date of promotion, less any time-served (up to 90 consecutive days) in acceptable "acting" capacity in that position. Before the expiration of the promotional probationary period, the Police Chief or his designee may:
 - a. Recommend retention of the officer in the promoted position, or if no recommendation for promotion is made before the expiration of the promotional_probationary period, the promotion shall be effective;

- b. Not recommend retention of the officer in the promoted position, whereupon the officer shall revert to his/her previous position without loss of rights, benefits or privileges of that previous position; or
- c. Recommend an extension of the promotional probationary period not to exceed an additional ninety (90) days' service in the promotional capacity.

HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

- 1. For those Bargaining Unit Members assigned to a twelve-hour shift, overtime will be compensated at a rate of one and one-half (1 1/2) times the applicable hourly rate of pay for any hours worked in excess of eighty-four (84) hours in a consecutive fourteen (14) day work period. Additionally, officers working the twelve-hour schedule will earn, and will be scheduled by management, a day off ("O –Day") upon the completion of two (2) consecutive work periods of eighty-four (84) hours. Holiday leave, sick leave, annual leave, funeral leave, military leave and any other paid approved leave shall be considered as "hours worked" for the purposes of earning the additional day off ("O–Day"). This shall not affect the definition of hours worked for overtime purposes. Days off must be used when scheduled. No more than thirty-six (36) hours of O–Day time may be accrued. In the event any employee accrues O-Day time above the thirty-six (36) hour maximum, that additional O-Day time may be scheduled by management as time off, or may be paid at the employee's straight time rate of pay because the four (4) hours of Straight time accrued in each eighty-four (84) hour work period is accrued as six (6) hours of O–Day time.
- 2. The work week of Bargaining Unit Employees who are not assigned to the twelve-hour shift will average forty (40) hours of work. All work authorized to be performed by Employees in excess of forty (40) hours actually worked in a seven (7) day work period (beginning at the start of a shift on Monday morning and ends at the conclusion of the Sunday night shift) shall be considered overtime and shall be compensated in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act. Overtime shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1 1/2) times the applicable hourly rate of pay.

- 3. Holiday leave, sick leave, annual leave, funeral leave, military leave, jury duty, paid administrative leave, and any other approved absence shall not be computed as hours worked for computation of overtime pay.
- 4. Any officer called back to work while on annual leave shall not be charged annual leave and shall be compensated as if the hours were regularly scheduled. Except in cases of extreme local emergency (such as riot, insurrection or severe weather conditions, or the threat thereof), or when the Department is in an "alert" status, Employees will not be required to accept a call back when on annual leave.
- 5. When it is necessary for the Department to require Employees to return to work on either their day-off or on their regular work day (separated by 60 minutes of relief of duty), the officers shall be paid a minimum of three hours at their overtime rate. Call back events include, but are not limited to, parades, City Commission meetings, construction traffic control, and other special events. Any Bargaining Unit Member called back for duty shall be paid in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act and may be required to work a minimum of three (3) hours.
- 6. Any Bargaining Unit Member required to respond to a job-related subpoena, (even where that subpoena related to employment with another agency as a law enforcement officer) with a daily maximum of (8) hours paid when out of town, court appearance or intake hearing on off-duty time shall be paid a minimum of three (3) hours of pay at their overtime rate and may be required to work a minimum of three (3) hours.
- 7. An officer whose shift is being changed on an extended basis shall be notified in writing of the change not less than fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the change. This 14day notice may be waived upon consent of the Employee or if the change is declared an emergency by the Police Chief or his designee. An emergency shall be an unanticipated

occurrence as a result of which a prompt shift change is necessary to avoid a substantial loss of departmental effectiveness or efficiency. The City agrees to provide thirty (30) days prior notice in the event of a change in the departmental shift schedules (as opposed to individual shift schedules) in place at time of ratification of this Agreement. The City agrees to consider practical scheduling alternatives proposed from time to time by the Association.

OFF-DUTY DETAILS AND/OR SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT

- 1. Off-duty details and/or secondary employment shall be permitted, so long as regularly scheduled duty is not interfered with or impaired, and there is no conflict of interest.
- Special (or extra duty) details will be handled by a coordinator appointed by the Chief of Police or his designee. The coordinator shall determine manpower and supervisory needs, with appropriate consultation and approval of the Police Chief or his designee, and shall be distributed fairly.

PROMOTIONS

- Promotions to sergeant and lieutenant shall be made in accordance with the Civil Service Board Rules and Regulations, City Policies and Procedures Manual and Key West Police Department Directives Manual. If there exists any conflict between the promotional rules of the Civil Service Board and this Agreement, this Agreement shall control.
- 2. A patrol officer must be of good standing in grade for three (3) continuous years of service before being permitted to take the promotional examination for sergeant. In the event a patrol officer has or completes an associate's degree in police science or police-related field, the time-in-grade requirement shall be two-and-one/half (2 1/2) continuous years of service. In the case of a bachelor's or higher degree, the time-in-grade requirement shall be two (2) years continuous years of service.
- 3. A sergeant must be of good standing in grade for three (3) continuous years of service before being permitted to take the promotional examination for lieutenant. In the event a sergeant has or completes an associate's degree in police science or police-related field, the time-in-grade requirement shall be two-and-one-half (2 1/2) continuous years of service. In the case of a bachelor's degree the time-in-grade requirement shall be two (2) continuous_years.
- 4. The Police Chief or his/her designee may waive the above time-in-grade requirements or decrease the time requirements if there are no eligible test takers. Time-in-grade-requirements may be waived to one year less in event of openings with no one eligible to take appropriate promotional exams (sergeant, lieutenant). If necessary, a second year may also be waived.
- Promotional exams shall continue to be administered by the Civil Service Board. The exams shall be kept current and shall be relevant to policing in the City of Key West.

- An individual reduced in rank for violation of City and/or departmental or Civil Service Board rules must serve in the reduced grade for three (3) continual years before becoming eligible for promotion.
- 7. A failed hiring or promotional test may not be waived.

FINANCIAL – WAGES

- 1. The City and Association agree that the Step Pay Plan (Attachment A) is incorporated in this Agreement and that this "Step Pay Plan" shall be valid for the duration of this Agreement, with the following increases:
 - a. Upon ratification, every currently sworn officer also employed as of October 12, 2021, shall receive a \$5,000.00 bonus, not factored into base salary or pension and subject to customary taxes. This payment will be made on or before May 6, 2022. This bonus reflects the efforts of officers during the Coronavirus pandemic. Should the federal government challenge the use of the City's funding source for payment of the bonus, the Parties agree to meet to discuss the federal government's challenge in an effort to insure that the bonus monies do not originate from City coffers.
 - b. Effective and retroactive to the first full pay period on or after October 1, <u>2023</u>2021, the step amounts will be increased by <u>6</u>4.5%.
 - c. Effective in the first full pay period on or after October 1, <u>2024</u>2022, the step amounts will be increased <u>5</u>4.0%.
 - d. Effective in the first full pay period on or after January 1, 2026, the step amounts will be increased 5%.
- 2. Any Bargaining Unit Member placed "on call" and required to remain immediately available for activation shall receive <u>fifty</u> twenty-five dollars (\$250) per day for each day of "on call" status.

ASSIGNMENT PAY

- Any officers assigned as field training officers (FTO) shall receive a three and one half percent (3.5%) assignment pay increase for those hours he/she actually works as a FTO. Such FTO assignment increase shall be removed should the officer be reassigned.
- 2. <u>Effective October 1, 2023, a</u>Any officer assigned to the Detective Division shall receive a <u>five</u> three and one half-percent (3.5%) assignment pay increase for those hours he/she actually works as a detective. Such increase shall be removed should the officer be reassigned out of the Detective Division.
- 3. Effective October 1, 2023, aAny officers assigned as Motorcycle officers, Police Divers, Bicycle Patrol, Marine Patrol, Mounted Patrol -School Resource or SRT shall receive a three and one half percent (3.5%) assignment pay increase for those hours he/she actually works as a Motorcycle officers, Police Divers, Bicycle Patrol officer, Marine Patrol officer, Mounted Patrol officer School Resource or SRT officer. Effective October 1, 2024, that assignment pay shall increase to four percent (4%). Effective October 1, 2025, that assignment pay shall increase to four percent (4.5%). Any Crime Prevention officer receiving assignment pay under the current CBA shall continue receiving such benefit until such officer gets reassigned, resigns or retires.
- <u>4. Effective October 1, 2023, School Resources Officers shall receive a ten percent (10%)</u> <u>assignment pay increase for those hours he/she actually works as a School Resource officer.</u> Such assignment increase shall be removed should the officer be reassigned. Any Crime Prevention officer receiving assignment pay under the current CBA shall continue receiving such benefit until such officer gets reassigned, resigns or retires.

- <u>54</u>. Uniformed road patrol officers, sergeants and lieutenants who are regularly assigned to the Alpha/Bravo shift (night shifts from 5:00pm to 5:00am or from 6:00pm to 6:00am) will receive a midnight shift differential in the amount of a three percent (3%) increase above the employees' base pay for those hours he/she actually works on his/her assigned midnight shift. Such midnight shift differential increase shall be removed should the officer be reassigned to a different shift or out of the Uniform Road Patrol division. Effective on the date this 2014-2017 Agreement is ratified by both parties, <u>tThe</u> midnight shift differential shall be included in the rate of pay for hours that a midnight shift officer is paid to respond to a job-related subpoena, court appearance, or intake hearing while the officer is off-duty.
- <u>65</u>. At such time as an officer no longer serves in any special duty capacity or in an assignment, the officer's salary shall be reduced by the appropriate special duty or assignment incremental amount discussed in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 above and shall not be entitled to the pay allowances associated with that special duty or assignment.
- <u>7</u>6. The cessation of an officer's regular or temporary special assignment will not be considered a demotion.

PAY ALLOWANCES

1. Patrol Officers

- a. Uniform patrol officers shall receive a monthly uniform cleaning/repair allowance of eighty-five (\$85.00) dollars per month.
- Uniform patrol officers shall have their uniforms replaced by the Department when the Department determines it is necessary due to ordinary wear and tear or damage occasioned in the line of duty.

2. Detectives

- a. Detectives shall receive a monthly clothing/cleaning allowance of one hundred and twenty-five (\$125.00) dollars per month.
- b. Detectives shall receive an automobile allowance of two hundred (\$200) dollars per month when the detective uses his/her personal vehicle for this assignment.

3. Educational Incentive

- a. Members shall be entitled to a two percent (2%) increase in their base wage upon earning a Bachelor's degree.
- Members shall be entitled to an additional two percent (2%) increase to their base wage (totaling 4%) upon earning a Master's degree.

OUT OF CLASS PAY

In situations where there are not two officers of rank on a watch and a need to appoint an acting Sergeant is determined by the shift supervisor as provided by departmental policy, the officer working out of classification shall receive three and one half (3.5%) percent of the officer's current salary. Selection of an acting Sergeant shall be at the discretion of the shift supervisor and in accordance with departmental policy.

INSURANCE COVERAGE

- The use of personal vehicles on City business is covered under the City's self-insurance program. (Liability, deductible of physical damage). The City will pay the difference in any policy amount which is created because an Employee uses his/her personal vehicle for work.
- Any Employee using a City-owned or rented vehicle in lieu of his/her personal vehicle shall refund the allowance referenced in C. above on a pro-rated basis. Police administration shall log City vehicle usage to ensure accountability.

LONGEVITY PAY

Bargaining unit members after having completed ten (10) years or more of continuous service, shall receive a lump sum payment on their anniversary date as follows, with the increased lump sum payment noted below in the right-hand column that will become effective on anniversary dates that occur on or after October 1, 2016:

Year 11	\$2,000.00
Year 12	\$2,000.00
Year 13	\$2,000.00
Year 14	\$2,000.00
Year 15	\$2,000.00
Year 16	\$3,000.00
Year 17	\$3,000.00
Year 18	\$3,000.00
Year 19	\$3,000.00
Year 20	\$3,000.00
Year 21 and over	\$3,000.00

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION AND APPEAL

A. ANNIVERSARY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

- 1. It is the policy of the Key West Police Department to conduct annual Performance evaluations of Employees. The purpose of this Article is to establish the policy and procedure to be used to appraise an Employee's work performance, productivity, effectiveness, and compliance with rules and regulations. The evaluation process will also facilitate communication between supervisors and Employees, provide accurate information which may be used in making of personnel decisions and improve Employee job performance generally.
- Annual performance evaluations shall be performed and prepared by the Employee's immediate supervisor (rater) within 30 days prior to the anniversary date. The evaluation forms to be used will be attached hereto as Appendix C.
- 3. Non-probationary Employees shall receive at least an annual evaluation. Informal periodic Employee conferences conducted during the rating period provides both the rater and Employee with an opportunity to discuss the deficiencies that might otherwise be cited as below satisfactory. This will provide the Employee the opportunity to improve job performance before the end of the evaluation period. The key to effective Employee performance counseling is to encourage the Employee to expend greater effort to improve job performance and thereby increase the likelihood of success and advancement in the Department.
- 4. The evaluation reports will be prepared by the Employee's immediate supervisor and reviewed by their intermediate supervisor (reviewer). In the event an Employee had other immediate supervisors during the same rating period the current immediate supervisor shall confer with those supervisors prior to preparing the annual performance evaluation.

34

- 5. The evaluation reports will provide guidelines for performance improvement or as positive feedback for good job performance.
- 6. Employees who are transferred to another supervisor/division or if a supervisor is transferred, then the Employee will be evaluated prior to transfer if sixteen (16) weeks or more of an evaluation period has elapsed. This evaluation will be taken into account when the current supervisor prepares the annual performance evaluation.
- 7. Prior to preparation of the Annual Performance Evaluation, the rater will review the Employee's job duties, the Employee's evaluation reports, and the Employee's personnel file as necessary to complete the Annual Performance Evaluation Form.
- 8. The rater will evaluate the Employee's job performance; provide specific narrative examples in the space provided; and outline any action plan which has been established to improve performance, or to improve promotability of the Employee.
- 9. The rater shall indicate for eligible Employees if regular status is granted.
- 10. The completed evaluation form will be reviewed and signed by the supervisor of the rater (reviewer).
- 11. The reviewer's responsibility is to review the performance evaluation for accuracy, objectivity, procedural preparation and completion, and ensure that the standards and methods used to evaluate the level of performance are consistent. The reviewer does not have the authority to make unilateral changes on any evaluation. If the rater and the reviewer cannot agree on an evaluation, their respective positions will be reduced to writing and submitted to the Police Chief or his designee who will be consulted to resolve the issue. The rater will schedule a conference with the Employee to discuss the performance evaluation and to establish goals for future performance.

- 12. Distribution of the Annual Performance Evaluation Form will be made to the Employee and the rater. The Departmental Personnel Section and the City Personnel Office will receive final copies.
- 13. Each Employee shall sign the Annual Performance Evaluation. The Employee's signature indicates receipt of the evaluation. The Employee shall be given the opportunity to add written comments in the appropriate section of the form, and it is the responsibility of the Employee to submit written comments within ten (10) working days of receipt of such evaluation.

B. PERFORMANCE REPORT RESTRICTIONS

- Details concerning specific facts and circumstances of past counseling and disciplinary actions administered to an Employee will not be restated or alluded to in a performance evaluation report if the information is not relevant to the current rating period.
- However, if a rating supervisor determines that past disciplinary and counseling incidents should be made a matter of permanent record in a performance report, care and caution will be exercised so that the comments are stated in a brief, clear, and concise manner.

C. ANNUAL PERFORMANCE EVALUATION APPEAL

 A regular Employee who has received an overall annual evaluation of "Unsatisfactory", "Needs Improvement", or "Satisfactory" must first request a review of the Annual Performance Evaluation by the Police Chief within ten (10) working days of receipt of the evaluation. The Police Chief or his designee may recommend changes or alterations or return the evaluation unchanged to the Employee. If the decision of the Police Chief or his designee is not acceptable to the Employee, the Employee shall have the right to continue the appeal to a three (3) member panel. There is no appeal of "Above Satisfactory" rating.

36

- 1. The appeal to the panel will be made in writing to the City Manager within fourteen calendar days of receipt of the written decision. The panel shall be convened within thirty (30) days of receipt of the appeal, unless extended by mutual agreement.
- 2. This three (3) member panel shall be comprised of law enforcement officers selected from any federal, state, county or municipal agency within Monroe, Dade or Broward County, or former law enforcement officers who are currently members of the criminal justice system.
- 3. The Employee and the Police Chief/designee shall each select one panel member, with the third member selected by the other two members. Neither the Police Chief, the rater, family members (by blood or marriage), the reviewer of the affected Employee, nor anyone who has demonstrated a prejudice either against or on behalf of the affected Employee will be eligible to serve as a panel member. In the event that the two (2) selected members cannot mutually agree to the third panel member within seven (7) calendar days, then each party will select another panel member on their behalf. If the two (2) new selected members cannot mutually agree to the third panel member within seven (7) calendar days, then the Association/ employee and the Police Chief will select the third member by alternate striking from a mutually agreed to list.
- 4. The Appeal will be informal and a transcript is not required. The panel's review will be limited to determining whether the evaluation procedures of this Agreement were complied with as well as whether the rater and reviewer prepared the evaluation in an objective manner. It is recognized that individual panel members do not have actual knowledge as to an Employee's actual performance during his/her rating period. Accordingly, the panel may increase the rating of an evaluation (e.g. from "needs improvement" to "satisfactory", etc.) only where it can determine that an Employee would have received a higher rating on his/her evaluation before the fact that the evaluation was affected by bias on behalf of the rater or the reviewer. In all

other cases, the panel will state, in writing, the deficiency found in the evaluation, and will refer it back to the Police Chief or his designee, who will insure that a new evaluation is performed in compliance with the panel's directions.

- 5. The written decision of the panel shall be rendered to the Employee within thirty (30) days of the hearing. This decision shall be final and binding.
- 6. The Employee and the City have a right to be accompanied by a representative of his choice at the hearing.
- 7. If the Employee's evaluation is found to be "above satisfactory" by the panel, the Employee shall receive the performance increase retroactive to his anniversary date.
- 8. If an Employee is unsuccessful in appealing an evaluation which is satisfactory or less and which causes a merit raise to be deferred, that Employee shall have no right to appeal the deferred evaluation which results in a rating of "unsatisfactory", "needs improvement" or "satisfactory".

INSURANCE PROTECTIONS

A. HEALTH AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE

The Employer agrees to provide health and accident insurance coverage, including major medical, dental and optical, for regular full-time Employees subject to the following:

- 1. The premium paid by the City shall be the full single coverage premium for the Employee, including any increase in premium imposed during the term of this contract for all employees hired on or before the ratification date of this agreement. For all employees hired after the ratification date of this agreement will be eligible for health, dental and optical coverage beginning the first of the month following 60 days of employment and shall contribute \$25.00 per pay period for such coverage.
- 2. The City shall continue to pay \$155.00 for dependent coverage. The Employee shall absorb any future increases to dependent coverage. Dependent coverage shall be paid in full by any Employee hired on or after December 1, 1990. Any Employee hired prior to December 1, 1990, shall be considered "grandfathered" and shall continue to be eligible for dependent coverage during the term of this Agreement, however, the City shall only pay \$155.00 towards such dependent coverage and the Employee shall pay the difference, if any.
- B. LIFE, ACCIDENTAL DEATH/DISMEMBERMENT
 - 1. The Employer shall provide \$15,000.00 life insurance and accidental death/dismemberment protection, with the Employer paying the premiums.
- C. DEATH IN THE LINE OF DUTY

In the event an officer is killed in the line of duty; the City shall provide ten thousand <u>-(</u>\$10,000.00) dollars for funeral expenses, separate from and in addition to any other monies due the officer, or his/her beneficiaries, as provided by State or Federal law.

ON-THE-JOB INJURY (MUST BE REPORTED)

In the event the City Manager or designee determines an Employee covered by this Agreement has sustained an on-the-job injury, incurred while acting in the line of duty (for the purposes of this section a line of duty injury shall mean an injury incurred while the officer is in fresh pursuit of a person who has committed or is reasonably suspected of having committed a felony, misdemeanor, traffic infraction or violation of a county of municipal ordinance; while the officer is engaged in the performance of patrol or investigatory duties; when an officer is unlawfully or intentionally injured by another while on duty, when the officer is engaged in training exercises, or when an officer is working at an authorized extra-duty employment detail and is injured while on that extra-duty employment detail performing a law enforcement function acting in the line of duty as a police officer, the City agrees to do the following:

Pay said Employee one hundred (100%) percent at his/her regular rate of pay (i.e. salary) for up to six (6) months after the injury is sustained. No Employee seeking benefits under this section shall ever receive more than one hundred (100%) percent of his/her bi-weekly pay from the City. Onthe-job injuries shall mean any injury that occurs while in the performance of their assigned duty.

- If an injured Employee is absent from work for more than six (6) months, whether or not he is receiving workers' compensation, the Police Chief or designee, in his/her sole discretion, may place the Employee on a "medical leave of absence", under whatever terms and conditions he/she, in his /her sole and exclusive discretion, deems appropriate. Said decision shall not be subject to the grievance/arbitration procedure.
- Alternatively, if the Employee is absent from work for more than six (6) months, and the City Manager or his/her designee, in his/her sole discretion, determines a need to fill the Employee's position, he/she, or his/her designee may terminate the Employee. The Police Chief or designee

may choose to put the Employee on a preferential hiring list for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months.

- 3. When so directed by the City, any Employee on a disability leave shall present himself/herself for examination at any reasonable time to any physician designated by the City. The City will bear the full expense of said examination. The failure of any such Employee to present himself/herself for an examination as directed will operate to automatically terminate his/her disability leave and may subject him/her to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- 4. Whenever an Employee on disability leave becomes physically able to perform some useful light duty work for the City, he/she may be required to do light duty work, provided light duty work is available and approved by the Police Chief or designee as a condition to receiving the benefits specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above.
- 5. The six (6) month period mentioned in paragraph 2 above is any six (6) months, per injury, within a twenty-four (24) month period from date of injury. Said six months need not be consecutive.
- 6. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the right of a Bargaining Unit Member to full pay status when such status is required by Florida Statute 440.15 (11).

PENSION/RETIREMENT

- 1. Employee pension payroll deductions shall begin at date of hire.
- 2. The current pension plan may be changed from time to time upon recommendation of the Pension Board and approval by the City Commission. The Association will be given advance notice and the opportunity to respond to any changes prior to any City Commission meeting where a change to the pension plan is being considered.
- Each Bargaining Unit Employee who retires on length of service or medical disability shall be issued a badge and identification card clearly marked "retired."
- 4. The City's Police Pension Plan ordinance shall be changed to include a military buy-back option and a prior law enforcement buy-back option that will provide eligible Members of this bargaining unit the opportunity to buy-back pension credit for up to five (5) years of military service or pension credit for up to five (5) years of prior law enforcement service, provided the eligible Member has not received and will not receive any other pension or retirement benefit from another plan based on that prior military or law enforcement service, and provided the eligible Member shall timely pay one hundred percent (100%) of the full/total actuarial costs and any related fees of any such buyback pension credit, so that any pension credit obtained through these buy-back options shall not cost the City or the Pension Plan any money. Additional requirements of any such military and/or law enforcement service buy-back options shall be included in the ordinance language agreed by the Parties, which shall include, among other things, for example, language to ensure that this buy-back pension credit time cannot be used to meet vesting requirements; and the buy-back pension credit time must be timely paid in full by the Member before retirement, based on lump sum or a required payoff schedule, and that the buy-back pension credit benefits must be consistent with any/all requirements of Chapter 185, Florida Statutes, etc.

HOLIDAYS

1. The Employer agrees to observe the following holidays:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King's B'day President's Day Easter Memorial Day <u>Juneteenth</u> Independence Day Labor Day Columbus Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Day After Thanksgiving Christmas Day

- 2. If any part of an officer's shift falls during the twenty-four (24) hour period constituting a holiday, the officer shall be paid at double his/her normal rate of pay for that entire shift ("holiday" rate). In the case of the 6:00pm to 6:00am (or 5:00 p.m. to 5:00 a.m.) shift, where parts of two (2) shifts could fall on the same holiday, only the first such shift shall be at "holiday" rate; the second shall be at regular pay rates.
- 3. For the purposes of this Agreement, "holiday" pay shall also be paid on those occasions when City Hall is closed for business, except for acts of God, on weekends or on the two (2) "floating holidays" designated by the City Manager.
- 4. If an officer is off-duty on a designated holiday, he or she shall be paid eight (8) hours, at his/her straight-time rate.
- 5. Bargaining Unit members, at their option, may choose to accrue holiday pay in a reserve and be paid the entire prior fiscal year accrued holiday pay by the last pay period of November of each year of the Agreement. Any accrued holiday pay in reserve shall be paid upon an Association member's separation from the City.

ANNUAL OR VACATION LEAVE

Full-time Employees are entitled to annual leave with pay, based on years of creditable service. For

all Employees hired prior to December 12, 1995, the annual leave accrual shall be as follows:

RATE OF ACCRUAL PER PAY PERIOD
4.62 hours for 12 hour work day
3.85 hours for 10 hour work day
3.08 hours for 8 hour work day
6.92 hours for 12 hour work day
5.77 hours for 10 hour work day
4.62 hours for 8 hour work day
9.23 hours for 12 hour work day
7.69 hours or 10 hour work day
6.15 hours for 8 hour work day

For all Employees hired after December 12, 1995, the annual leave accrual shall be as follows:

RATE OF ACCRUAL PER PAY PERIOD
4.62 hours for 12 hour work day
3.85 hours for 10 hour work day
3.08 hours for 8 hour work day
6.92 hours for 12 hour work day
5.77 hours for 10 hour work day
4.62 hours for 8 hour work day
9.23 hours for 12 hour work day
7.69 hours for 10 hour work day
6.15 hours for 8 hour work day

1. If an observed holiday falls within the Employee's annual leave period, the leave may be extended

by one day, with prior approval of the Police Chief or designee.

- 2. Annual leave will be taken on approval through the chain of command.
- 3. Dispatcher annual leave shall not affect scheduling of annual leave by certified officers.
- 4. With approval through the chain of command, a patrol officer may be on annual leave at the same time as his/her sergeant or lieutenant.
- 5. Requests for annual leave should be submitted at least 30 days before the time requested. The City shall, if submitted as provided above, provide a response within seven (7) calendar days of

the date the request is received. Annual leave may be utilized on a day-by-day basis, in which case the City shall provide final response within 72 hours of the date the request is received. The City agrees that every consideration will be shown in an attempt to avoid cancellation of an officer's leave, however, such decisions are at the discretion of the Police Chief or designee as his sole and exclusive right.

- 6. If approved leave is canceled by the City, payment of non-refundable monies paid out by the Employee shall be reimbursed by the City on a case-by-case basis by the Police Chief or designee. The City agrees to establish reasonable criteria for application of this section.
- 7. Annual leave shall be paid on an hour-for-hour basis.
- 8. As of September 30 of any given year, the amount of accrued annual leave that may be carried over to the next fiscal year is the Employee's current annual accrual rate as of September 30 of the current fiscal year. Upon documentation of a pattern of denial, the amount of annual leave that has been denied may either be transferred to sick leave or carried over to be used long with all new annual leave, by the appropriate date. An Employee, upon a showing of extenuating circumstances, may request the City Manager to authorize a buy-out of accrued annual leave prior to his/her separation from the City. The City Manager will consider each request on a case-by-case basis. The City Manager's decision is final and non-grievable.
- 9. Upon separation from the City, an Employee shall be paid for each hour of accrued annual leave, at his/her current rate of pay up to a buy-out cap of 240 hours.

SICK LEAVE

For the purposes of this agreement "continuous service" shall include military, educational, funeral and other approved leaves of absence, but not bridged time.

Full-time continuous service Employees covered by this Agreement who work an eight (8) hour workday will accrue 3.69 hours per bi-weekly pay period. Full-time continuous service Employees covered by this Agreement who work a ten (10) hour workday will accrue 4.62 hours per bi-weekly pay period. Full-time continuous service Employees covered by this Agreement who work a twelve (12) hours workday will accrue 5.54 hours per bi-weekly pay period. The minimum charge for sick leave shall be one quarter hour (15 minutes), with usage rounded up to the next quarter hour.

- 1. Employees may accrue unlimited amounts of sick leave. As of October 1, 1992, the number of sick leave hours available for buyout upon termination is capped at 720, or the number of hours on the books as of September 30, 1992, whichever is more. Those Employees with more than 720 hours as of that date will be considered to have a "grandfathered" cap. Leave accrued in excess of the capped amount may be used as set forth above. Leave subject to buy out may be transferred to another Employee per the City's sick leave transfer policy.
- 2. When an Employee with a "grandfathered" cap uses or transfers such leave so as to bring the balance to an amount lower than the original cap, the new cap amount shall be the lower balance, provided that the balance does not go lower than 720 hours. In no case, shall the sick leave cap be less than 720 hours.
- 3. Upon separation from the City, an Employee hired prior to October 1, 2004, shall be paid for each hour of accrued sick leave, at his/her current rate of pay, up to the capped amount. Upon separation from the City, unless the Employee has been terminated for just cause involving acts

that are immoral or constitute a felony, or resigns under threat of such termination, the Employee hired on or after October 1, 2004, shall be paid for each hour of accrued sick leave, at his/her current rate of pay, up to the capped amount according to the following schedule:

Years	Percentage of Hours Paid
<u>0-3</u>	0%
<u>4-6</u>	50%
<u>7-9</u>	75%
<u>10+</u>	100%

 The City may attempt to place an officer who is not capable of fully returning to duty to a light duty status if there is sufficient work to warrant such assignment as determined by the Police Chief or designee.

- Incentive Award Days shall be granted as shown below with the exclusion of any officer(s) separated or retired from City employment. Incentive Award Days shall be authorized, for the duration of this Agreement.
- One (1) Incentive Award Work Day (regardless of shift assignment) will granted for each half year (6 month period of time) as of October 1 of each year in which no sick leave is used. Each half year is independent of the others.
- Two (2) Incentive Award Work Days may be earned during the fiscal year at a rate of one (1) per half year (October 1 - March 31; April 1 – September 30).
- 8. Any time sick leave is used during any quarter, no Incentive Award Work Day shall be earned in that six-month period.
- 9. Notwithstanding Article 7(B), new officers employed by the City between fiscal year quarters will accrue and be entitled to use Incentive Award Work Days commencing with the first day of the next six-month period, however, if the employment date occurs during the first forty-five (45) days of the fiscal quarter, the accrual period will be retroactive to the first day of the period.

10. Newly hired probationary employees may begin using authorized/approved sick leave accruals starting after the probationary employee's sixth (6th) month of employment, provided that any time missed from work shall be added on the end of the employee's initial probationary period to ensure the employee has the opportunity to complete the full twelve (12) month probationary period.

FUNERAL LEAVE

- Any full-time Employee shall be granted funeral leave in the event of a death in the Employee's immediate family, upon approval by the Department Head.
 Total funeral leave with pay shall not exceed three (3) work days. If the funeral is out of town, up to two (2) additional work days for travel time will be granted.
- 2. The Employee's "immediate family" shall be defined as spouse, parent, child, sibling, grandparents and grandchildren, whether by birth or by law (in-law and adopted) and dependents (live-in). If required, the Employee shall provide the Department Head with proof of death in the family as instructed before the leave is approved.
- 3. If additional time is necessary, it shall be taken as annual leave. If annual leave has been exhausted, sick leave may be requested with advance authorization by the appropriate Department Head or City Manager or designee. The Employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor upon making the determination to take time off from work.
- 4. Employees, who fail to return to work on the date specified to the Department Head, without receiving an extension, are subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- 5. Any full-time Employee may be granted funeral leave in the event of a local funeral service of the Employee's personal friend and/or due to professional relationships, upon approval of the Chief of Police or designee. The employee may be granted up to four (4) hours leave with pay under this situation, and shall not be grievable if denied.

PERSONNEL REDUCTION

A. In the event a reduction in force becomes a justifiable economic necessity, the Employer shall notify the Association, in writing, of the necessity and its justification, at least fifteen (15) days prior to any cut-back action. Economic necessity shall mean a managerial determination that a reduction in the number of employees is necessary, excluding the acts or delinquencies of an individual employee. Such a determination is not subject to the grievance procedures set forth in this Agreement, nor shall it constitute an unfair labor practice.

If reduction in force becomes a recognized economic necessity, normal attrition shall be the first step, and then the following procedures:

- 1. The department shall determine the areas and positions in which reductions can be made with least deleterious effect and the number of positions affected, and shall notify the Association in writing at least five (5) days in advance of any further action.
- Seniority shall be the sole determining factor utilized in layoff and recall actions. Seniority shall be defined by continuous (not bridged) service by a certified officer in the department or if the layoff occurs in a single rank, continuous service in rank.
- 3. In layoff, the officers with least seniority and the least rank shall be first laid off, and officers with the most seniority shall be the last laid off. In event of equal seniority, the lower rank shall be laid off. In the event that both seniority and rank are the same, a flip of the coin shall decide the layoff.
- 4. Employees to be laid off shall be notified in writing as soon as possible after the decision has been made, but not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of such layoff. The Employer shall actively assist affected employees in obtaining employment elsewhere.

- B. In event of recall of Employees after a layoff, the layoff procedures shall be reversed:
 - The department shall determine areas and positions to be affected, and the number of positions to be refilled.
 - Officers with the most seniority shall be recalled first; least seniority shall be recalled last. In the event of equal seniority, the higher rank will be first recalled. In event of both accrual seniority and rank, a flip of the coin shall decide first recall.
 - 3. Recalled employees shall be so notified by registered letter to their address of record, with thirty (30) days to return to work, and notice to the department of intent to return no less than fifteen (15) days prior to the return date.
- C. Any laid-off employee who would have qualified for retirement or whose retirement would have vested during the lay-off time, shall be-permitted to work that period of time necessary to acquire needed service for retirement or vesting of retirement.
- D. An employee laid off under this article shall have opportunity to continue existing insurance coverage by paying the full cost of premiums on a monthly basis, in advance, as provided for by State/Federal law.
- E. Recall shall be at the current rate of pay for the classification. Upon recall, all credit for salary, fringe benefits and seniority shall be restored. The recalled Employee's salary and benefits shall be no less than that at the time of layoff unless otherwise provided by the Agreement. Employees shall retain recall rights for eighteen months from the date of layoff.

INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS

The City recognizes its rights and obligations under the Police Officer Bill of Rights, Section 112.531 et. seq; Florida Statutes, as amended. Whenever a Bargaining Unit Member is subject to "Summary Disciplinary" action which could lead to disciplinary action, such as demotion, suspension or termination. The City recognizes its rights and obligations under the Police Officer Bill of Rights, Section 112.531 et. seq; Florida Statutes, as amended. Whenever a Bargaining Unit Member is the subject of an internal affairs investigation and is subject to interrogation or interview by members of his agency for any reason which could lead to disciplinary action, such as demotion, suspension or termination, such interrogation or interview shall be conducted in accordance with Section 112.532(1).

- 1. The Department shall advise, promptly, any concerned officer against whom a complaint or accusation has been made.
- 2. The Department will make every reasonable effort to obtain complainant's statements under oath. Said complaints shall be taken and sworn to on a standard form.
- Hearsay/anonymous complaints shall be reviewed informally to determine if there is any basis in fact. If none is found, the matter shall be dropped and not noted in the officer's Personnel file.
- 4. Should any matter go beyond informal review to the investigatory stage, any officer questioned shall be advised, prior to questioning, the nature of the investigation and whether the officer is a witness, or the subject of the investigation.
- 5. The subject of any internal disciplinary investigation shall be advised, in detail, prior to questioning, of any and all allegations. At the same time, the officer shall be provided a copy of all evidence related to the incident prior to the subject member's interview in accordance with State law.

- 6. In event of criminal allegations, the officer shall be given his/her Miranda rights.
- 7. In any case in which disciplinary action may result which will be recorded in the officer's personnel file, the officer shall be afforded reasonable opportunity if desired to secure and consult legal counsel, and to have counsel present for any questioning.
- 8. Upon conclusion of an Internal Affairs investigation, the subject of the investigation shall be notified, in writing, within five (5) workdays of the disposition of the case.
- No Employee shall be required for any reason to submit to a polygraph test or any other device purporting to measure truthfulness of response.
- 10. An officer who executes a written statement during an investigation shall be entitled, upon request, to receive an exact copy of such statement.
- 11. Unless required by law, neither Employer nor Association will voluntarily make any public statements concerning the merits or substance of an alleged violation before an internal investigation has been completed.
- 12. Only "sustained" findings may be inserted in an officer's personnel record. "Unfounded" findings shall neither be inserted in the officer's personnel record nor referred to in performance evaluations.
- 13. "Sustained" findings shall be those in which the complaint, charge or accusation has been substantiated and confirmed in fact.

DISCIPLINARY ACTION

- 1. Employees shall not be dismissed or disciplined resulting in loss of pay or benefits except for just cause. All disciplinary actions including written reprimands, demotions, suspensions, and dismissals of Employees who have successfully completed the probationary period, shall be appealed through the grievance and arbitration procedure. Employees may appeal a demotion, suspension or dismissal by filing a written grievance with the Police Chief (Step II) as is provided in Article 30 and 31 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE, provided however, that there shall be no right to arbitrate discipline if it is in the form of written reprimand. In cases of written reprimand, the final authority to determine the merits of the grievance rests with the Chief.
- Each officer shall be furnished a copy of any disciplinary action placed in his official personnel file, and shall be permitted to respond thereto.
- 3. Any charges against an officer must be specific and clearly drawn from a violation of law, City rules and regulations and/or Departmental rules, regulations and orders.
- 4. No vague or ambiguous language such as "conduct unbecoming an employee" shall be used unless supported by specific factual incidents or charges.
- The Employee subjected to the disciplinary action shall be informed in writing of the charges against him.
- 6. The Employee who is completely exonerated through the disciplinary appeal process will have the right to have all documents and reports purged from the personnel file maintained by the City, if the law permits.
- 7. Changes of shifts, schedules and assignments shall not be used as punitive action.

PERSONNEL RECORDS

- 1. The personnel file maintained by the office of human resources shall be designated the "official personnel file". The official personnel file shall contain no disciplinary related item which has not been inspected, and signed, by the Employee. Employees shall sign such documents prior to their being placed in their official personnel file. However, such signature shall only indicate the Employee's receipt of such documents. Refusal by the Employee to sign such documents shall be documented and witnessed upon the document, and shall serve the purpose of the Employee's signature to the extent that the document may then be placed in the Employee's official personnel file. Files may be purged of specific documents as authorized or required by law.
- 2. The personnel record of each Employee shall be kept confidential, except those items which are made available to the public under Florida Statutes, Chapter 119.
- 3. Upon reasonable request, any Employee shall have the right to inspect his or her official personnel record wherever kept. The Employee shall have the right to have duplicate or photo-copies made for his or her own use, at a reasonable cost.
- 4. Employees shall have the right, within thirty (30) days of notification, to add to the personnel records written refutation of derogatory materials, including performance evaluations and/or citizen complaints.

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

In a mutual effort to provide a harmonious working relationship between the Parties to the Agreement, it is agreed to and understood by the Parties that the following grievance and arbitration procedure shall cover matters bearing upon discipline or discharge, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. It is also agreed to and understood by both Parties that the following shall be the procedure for the resolution of grievances between the Parties arising from terms and conditions of employment or from the interpretation or application of this Agreement.

1. A grievance shall be defined as any dispute arising concerning the interpretation or application of this Agreement or with respect to the terms and conditions of employment except as otherwise provided in this Article. Disciplinary matters or termination are expressly grievable and arbitrable; written reprimands are grievable but not arbitrable. The final decision in cases of written reprimands rests with the Chief of Police or designee. Refusal to process a grievance or appeal, follow time limits contained in this Article, permit an Employee the right to representation or denial of a right to receive a reply are expressly grievable. An arbitrator has no jurisdiction to consider any other matters as grievances.

2. No management right reserved solely to the authority of the City by the terms of this Agreement shall be the subject of a grievance, however, the exercise of such management rights shall not preclude Employees or their representatives from raising grievances, should management's decisions on these matters have the practical consequence of violating the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

3. The Association and the City have the inherent right to bring a grievance action in their own name and on their own behalf concerning disputes relating to contract interpretation and application.

Such a grievance will be filed directly at Step II. Grievances shall be processed in accordance with the following procedures:

Step I - The aggrieved Employee or his representative (which may be an attorney), shall informally discuss the grievance with the<u>ir immediate supervisor</u>-City Attorney or his designee within fourteen (14) calendar days of the occurrence of the alleged grievance or time the aggrieved Employee knew or should reasonably have known of the event giving rise to the grievance. The <u>immediate supervisor</u> City Attorney or his designee shall adjust the matter or respond to the grieving party as soon as possible, but no later than seven (7) calendar days following its submission. If the event(s) which gave rise to the grievance occurred at a time when the Employee was on annual leave, sick leave, or other authorized leave, the fourteen (14) calendar day period specified in Step I shall commence immediately upon the Employee's return from authorized leave.

Step II - If after a thorough discussion with the <u>immediate supervisor</u>, <u>City Attorney or his designee</u> a grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at Step 1, the aggrieved employee or his representative (which may be an attorney) may formally appeal the grievance to the <u>Police Chief City Attorney or his</u> designee-in writing within seven (7) calendar days after the aggrieved Employee receives the informal response in Step 1. The aggrieved Employee may request a meeting with the <u>Police ChiefCity</u> Attorney or his designee. If a meeting is requested, the <u>Police Chief City Attorney or his designee</u> shall meet with the aggrieved Employee and his representative (if represented) within seven (7) calendar days of the request for a meeting, however either party may request that this time frame be extended should either party be unavailable within seven (7) calendar days. The <u>Police ChiefCity</u> Attorney or his designee shall respond to the Employee and his representative (if represented) in writing within seven (7) calendar days from the date of the meeting or, if no meeting was requested, within ten (10) calendar days of the submission of the grievance to the City Attorney or his designee (to include discipline or discharge).

The grievance must state the following on the appropriate form (A copy of the grievance form is

attached hereto):

- 1. the date of the event giving rise to the grievance;
- 2. the date the grievance was delivered to the Police Chiefsupervisor/designee;
- 3. a statement of all known facts relied upon by the grievant;
- 4. the section or sections of the Agreement that have been violated;
- 5. the relief or corrective action sought by the aggrieved Employee; and
- 6. the signature of the aggrieved Employee.

Step III - If after a thorough discussion with the Police Chief a grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at Step II, the aggrieved employee or his representative (which may be an attorney) may formally appeal the grievance to the City Manager in writing within seven (7) calendar days after the aggrieved Employee receives the response in Step II. The aggrieved Employee may request a meeting with the City Manager. If a meeting is requested, the City Manager shall meet with the aggrieved Employee and his representative (if represented) within seven (7) calendar days of the request for a meeting, however either party may request that this time frame be extended should either party be unavailable within seven (7) calendar days. The City Manager shall respond to the Employee and his representative (if represented) in writing within seven (7) calendar days from the date of the meeting or, if no meeting was requested, within ten (10) calendar days of the submission of the grievance to the City Manager (to include discipline or discharge).

Step IVIII - Arbitration. If the decision of the City <u>Manager Attorney or his designee</u> has not satisfactorily resolved the grievance, the Association may request arbitration in writing to the City, by forwarding the request for arbitration to the City <u>Manager'sAttorney's</u> Office no later than fifteen (15) calendar days after the aggrieved Employee and his representative (if represented) receives the response in Step <u>I</u>II. Either party shall request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) or American Arbitration Association, whomever is less expensive to submit a list of seven (7) arbitrators. A copy of this request shall concurrently be mailed to the other party. The American

Arbitration Association shall furnish selective lists until an arbitrator is selected by the Parties. The arbitrator shall be selected and shall conduct the arbitration proceedings in accordance with the rules established by the American Arbitration Association, except as modified by this Agreement. If the aggrieved Employee fails to appeal the unresolved grievance to arbitration in accordance with the provisions set forth herein, then the grievance is considered resolved on the basis of the City's last grievance response and it is barred from Step <u>IV</u>III-arbitration.

- 4. Time is of the essence in the grievance procedure. The time limits set forth in each step above may be extended upon mutual written assent of the Parties. If the Association or the grievant does not pursue a grievance to the next indicated step within the time limits provided, the grievance shall be dismissed with prejudice. If the City does not reply to a grievance at any step within the time limits set forth herein, the grievance shall automatically proceed to the next step.
- 5. Nothing shall prevent the Parties from agreeing to submit initial grievances to any step deemed appropriate in order to expedite a determination, provided that at least one grievance step shall always precede arbitration.
- 6. Any grievance involving an Employee's discipline or discharge shall be filed directly with the City <u>ManagerAttorney or his designee</u> at Step <u>III</u> within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the written notification of the discipline or discharge and thereafter be processed in accordance with the subsequent grievance procedure steps, except as is otherwise provided in this Agreement.
- 7. Although the City may process a claim as a grievance, it never waives its right to take the position that the claim is not arbitrable.

ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- 1. The City shall provide the hearing room for the arbitration. Upon agreement of the Parties, there shall be a certified court reporter at the hearing. The Parties shall be a certified court reporter at the hearing. costs and expenses of the mutually agreed upon court reporter, arbitrator and all other expenses connected with the hearing, however, if upon a party's motion, an arbitrator finds that the matter before him or her is not within his/her jurisdictional authority to decide as provided in this Agreement or the arbitrator determines that the grievance before him/her is frivolous or without merit, the grieving party shall be ordered by the arbitrator to reimburse to the nongrieving party its fees, costs and expenses incurred for the mutually agreed upon court reporter, if any, and the arbitrator's fees, costs and expenses. Each party shall bear the expense of its own witnesses, representatives, attorneys and all other individual expenses. Employee witnesses are subject to subpoena and if on duty, his/her appearance will be without loss of pay or benefits. Whenever possible, Employees will be placed on call to minimize time lost from work. Employees who have completed their testimony shall return to work unless they are the grievant or are directly required to assist the representative in the conduct of the case. In class grievances, the class shall be presented by the PBA President. The intent of the Parties is to minimize time lost from work.
- 2. Both Parties may be accompanied by a representative at the arbitration hearing. Both Parties may be represented by legal counsel. The arbitrator shall have access to all written documents and statements pertaining to the grievance. Either party may request to submit a written brief in lieu of a closing argument. If one party requests to file a written closing brief, the other party may also file a written closing brief.

3. The arbitrator's award shall be in writing and shall set forth the arbitrator's opinion, conclusions on the issues submitted, facts presented and appropriate remedies. Copies of the award of the arbitrator, made in accordance with the jurisdictional authority under this Agreement, shall be furnished to both Parties within thirty (30) days of the conclusion of the hearing. The arbitrator's award deadline shall begin to toll after the closing brief's due date if a closing brief is requested, or as otherwise agreed among the Parties. The arbitrator's award shall be final and binding except as is otherwise provided in this Agreement.

Limiting Powers of the Arbitrator

- 1. The arbitrator shall limit his decisions to the application and interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement and shall have no authority to change, amend, add to, subtract from, ignore, modify, nullify or otherwise alter any terms or supplement this Agreement or any part thereof or any amendment thereto. The arbitrator shall have no jurisdiction or authority to consider or rule upon any matter which is stated in this Agreement not to be a grievance or subject to arbitration.
- 2. In the case of a grievance involving any claim for monetary damages against the City, no award shall be made by the arbitrator which shall allow retroactive payments for more than ten (10) calendar days prior to the day when the grievance is submitted in writing.
- 3. The arbitrator shall not have the power to inflict a punitive award against the City.
- Only one grievance will be presented to particular arbitrator, unless otherwise agreed to among the Parties.

Appeal of Arbitrator's Award

- 1. An arbitrator's award is final and binding and can only be appealed for one or more of the following grounds:
 - a. It violates a statute or ordinance;
 - b. The arbitrator exceeded his or her jurisdiction or authority;

- c. The award does not draw its essence from the Agreement;
- d. The award is based on clearly erroneous findings of fact;
- e. The arbitrator was biased or partial:
- f. The award was procured by corruption, fraud or other undue means;
- g. The arbitrator refused to hear pertinent and material evidence.
- 2. An arbitrator's award may only be appealed as specified herein to the Circuit Court, Monroe County Florida, within ninety (90) calendar days of the arbitrator's award or the appeal is time-

barred.

DEPARTMENTAL DISCIPLINARY APPEAL PANEL

Alternatively, the aggrieved Employee may appeal discipline in the form of a termination to a Departmental Disciplinary Appeal Panel. This three member panel shall be comprised of law enforcement officers selected from any state, county or municipal agency within Monroe, Dade, or Broward County. One member is to be selected by the City, one member selected by the aggrieved Employee and the third member is mutually selected by the two panel members. No panel member shall have previously participated in the matter to be resolved, whether through management or through the bargaining unit, nor shall any panel member be related to any person involved in the matter to be resolved. Either party to the issue may successfully challenge any panel member selected upon demonstration of previous involvement or relationship to the Director of Human Resources, and in such case, a new member shall be selected as per the mandated process of this contract. The option of the Disciplinary Appeal Panel must be requested in writing by the Employee and/or the Association within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the City Manager or his designee's response in Step III. This request shall include the Employee/Association's selection of its one (1) panel member. The City shall schedule a hearing within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the Employee/Association request. The appeal Panel shall render a written decision, which is final and binding to concerned parties within fifteen (15) calendar days of the conclusion of the appeal

hearing. If there is no activity in the appeal by the aggrieved Employee within six (6) months of his/her appeal request, the appeal shall be dismissed with prejudice.

ASSOCIATION BUSINESS

1. The Association shall notify the city of its employee representatives and shall amend that list from time to time as needed. Employee representatives shall cumulatively be granted up to twenty-five (25) working days to attend to Association business and functions, including processing of grievances and attendance at conventions and seminars. It will be incumbent upon the Association to give at least seven (7) days' notice to the Police Chief or designee, stating dates and purpose of absence, and the location of such meetings. Up to five (5) members of the negotiating committee shall be allowed time off for contract negotiations and related business, as needed and as approved by the Police Chief or designee. Approval will not be unreasonably withheld. If time-off is denied, the reasons for the denial will be provided in writing upon request.

SERVICES TO THE ASSOCIATION

- The Employer will furnish the Association with reasonable bulletin board space in the squad room, to be used only for Association notices relating to official business of the Association and/or contract administration.
- 2. The Employer will allow the Association to distribute mail and other communications in each Employee's mailbox.

LEGAL PROTECTION

- 1. Whenever a civil suit in tort is brought against an Employee for injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event, or omission of action which is alleged to have occurred while the Employee was on duty, the Employer or an insurance carrier or self-insurance fund on its behalf will investigate the circumstances to determine whether the Employee acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. If the Employer or an insurance carrier or self-insurance fund on its behalf determines that the Employee did not act in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property, the Employer shall undertake the defense of the Employee in accordance with Florida Statute 768.28 (5) and (9). Said defense shall cease upon judicial finding, or finding by the Employer, that the Employee acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. No Employees or agents of the City shall be held personally liable in tort for any injuries or damages suffered as a result of any act, event or omission of action in the scope of his/her employment or function, unless such Employee or agent acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, public safety of property.
- 2. The Employer may purchase liability insurance in anticipation of providing such a defense.

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

The City and Association agree that the drug and alcohol policy incorporated in this Agreement and attached hereto shall be the City's Drug Free Workplace Policy for the duration of this Agreement.

DUES DEDUCTION

- 1. Upon receipt of a lawfully executed written authorization from a City Employee covered by this Agreement, on a form approved by the City's Finance Director, the City will deduct each pay period from the Employee's first pay check of the month current Association membership dues.
- 2. The City will remit by check, to the Association Treasurer, on a monthly basis, such sums together with a list of employees for whom deductions were made.
- 3. Changes in the Association's membership dues rate shall be certified to the City, in writing, over the signatures of the authorized officer or officers of the Association, at least thirty (30) days in advance of the effective date of such change.
- 4. The City's remittance shall be deemed correct if the Association does not give a written notice to the City within two (2) calendar weeks after remittance is received of its belief, with reasons stated therefore that the remittance is incorrect.
- 5. Any Employee may revoke, in writing, with thirty (30) days prior notice to the City Finance Director and the Association, his authorization for dues deductions.
- 6. The Association will indemnify and hold the City harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders and judgments brought or issued against the City on account of the administration of this Article.

APPENDICES AND AMENDMENTS

All appendices and amendments to this Agreement shall have the same effect as if written directly into the main text.

SEVERABILITY

Should any provision of this Agreement, or any part or application thereof, be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted State or Federal legislation, or by a decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, all other articles and sections shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement. The Parties agree to immediately meet and confer concerning any invalidation.

CONTRACT CONSTITUTES ENTIRE AGREEMENT

OF THE PARTIES

The Parties hereto agree that this document is the entire Agreement between the City of Key West, Florida, and the Dade County Police Benevolent Association, Key West Chapter. The Parties may by mutual written agreement reopen negotiations on any issue. This Agreement supersedes all previous Agreements, amendments thereto, and letters of understanding. There is no past practice which results in a monetary benefit except as expressly provided in this Agreement.

ZIPPER CLAUSE

- 1. The Parties acknowledge and agree that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter included by law within the area of collective bargaining and that all the understandings and agreements arrived at by the Parties after the exercise of the right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the Parties' entire Agreement and other conditions and any matter or subjects not herein covered may be adjusted, compromised or waived by the Parties pursuant to Chapter 447, Florida Statutes.
- 2. This Agreement may be amended by mutual Agreement of the Parties, but any amendment must be in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of the Parties before it will be effective.

DURATION, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

The Agreement shall be effective upon ratification of the Parties, and shall continue in full force and effect until the thirtieth (30th) day of September <u>2026</u>2023. The Parties shall commence negotiations for a successor contract on mutually acceptable dates any time after March 1, <u>2026</u>2023.

SIGNED THIS _____ DAY OF _____APRIL, 2022.

CITY OF KEY WEST

DADE COUNTY POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, INC., KEY WEST CHAPTER

Albert Childress / City Manager

Todd Stoughton /Assistant City Manager

Bridget Flores / HR Director

Marcus del Valle / PBA Representative

Frank Betz / PBA Representative

Andrew Axelrad / General Counsel PBA

Michael Braverman, Esq.